IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DARWYN ROSS YOWELL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 83577 Electronically Filed Feb 03 2022 02:59 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court County of Elko, State of Nevada The Honorable Mason Simons, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MATTHEW PENNELL Elko County Public Defender 569 Court Street Elko, NV 89801 NV Bar Number 13298 AARON D. FORD Nevada Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701 NV Bar Number 7704

CHAD B. THOMPSON Elko County District Attorney 540 Court Street Elko, NV 89801 NV Bar Number 10248

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The District Court entered its judgment of conviction on September 13, 2021. Joint Appendix (hereinafter abbreviated "App.") 112-114. The Appellant filed notice of appeal on September 24, 2021. App. 464. Since Appellant filed the notice of appeal within thirty (30) days from the entry of the written judgment, notice of appeal is timely per NRAP 4(b)(1)(A). NRS § 177.015(3) provides this Court with jurisdiction to review the judgment of conviction that Darwyn Ross Yowell ("Mr. Yowell") now appeals.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict. Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2)(A), a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict from a Category B felony is exempt from presumptive assignment to the Nevada Court of Appeals. As such, this case is assigned at the discretion of the Nevada Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues on appeal: (1) whether the District Court violated Mr. Yowell's Constitutional rights by limiting his cross-examination of the victim; (2) whether the District Court abused its discretion by admitting a video of a victim interview during Sgt. Williams' testimony.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State's Criminal Information alleged that Mr. Yowell committed the following offenses on June 5th, 2020: Count 1: Kidnapping in the First Degree, a Category A Felony; Count 2: Kidnapping in the Second Degree, a Category B Felony; Count 3: Coercion, a Category B Felony; Count 4: Domestic Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, a Category B Felony; and Count 5: Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, a Category C Felony. *App. 11-15*. After the close of evidence, the jury convicted Mr. Yowell on Count 4, Domestic Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, a Category B Felony. *App. 112-114*. The District Court sentenced Mr. Yowell to twenty-eight to seventy-two months imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections with four-hundred-sixty-two days credit. *Id*.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case centers on two witnesses with differing accounts: Jean Ortega ("Ms. Ortega") and Mr. Yowell. Both agreed that they had a sexual relationship as boyfriend and girlfriend over a nine-year period. *App. 464, 735*. During this relationship, Mr. Yowell was aware of several features of Ms. Ortega's life that were ultimately relevant to his theory of self-defense in his trial.

Ms. Ortega had been convicted of a violent felony within a few years of the trial occurring in this case. *App. 477, 495*. The conviction was for assault resulting in

serious bodily harm. *App. 495*. The victim was her father. *App. 495*. She attacked him with a knife. *App. 497*. She stabbed him. *App. 495*. Mr. Yowell was aware of this incident. *App. 499*, 739. As of June 5th, 2021, Ms. Ortega was on supervised release from prison for this offense. *App. 499*. Mr. Yowell was aware of this. *App. 741*.

Among her conditions of release, Ms. Ortega was not supposed to drink alcohol. *App. 500*. Also, her supervision required her to take prescription medications to treat her mental health disorders. *App. 500-501*. Mr. Yowell was aware of this *App. 744-750*. Those disorders being Bi-Polar Disorder, Major Depression, Anxiety, and Post-Traumatic-Stress-Disorder. *App. 500-501, 509*. Mr. Yowell was aware of this *App. 744-750*. Ms. Ortega knew she was not to mix her medications with alcohol. *App.* 501. The mental health issues and violence tendencies were intertwined with the events of June 5th, 2020.

On June 5th, 2020, Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega were staying at the American Inn in Elko, Nevada. *App. 463*. It was that day that both Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega accused each other of committing violence against one another.

Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega were the only witnesses to the events that transpired between leaving the American Inn and encountering Trey and Mikala Green on Highway 228 between South Fork, Nevada and Lee, Nevada sometime after 9:30 at night. *App. 390-391, 721-723*. Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega had differing accounts of what happened in the time between.

Mr. Yowell's account starts with him asking Mr. Ortega to drive him to a graduation party in Lee, Nevada. *App. 752-754*. Ms. Ortega said yes, picked him up, and drove him to her hotel room to stay the night. *App. 752-754*. The next day, Jean went to work at 7 p.m. *App. 754*. Mr. Yowell stayed in the hotel room. *App. 754-755*. Mr. Yowell purchased a twenty-four-ounce beer while he was alone in the hotel room *App. 755, 781*. Mr. Yowell drank three sips of that beer. *App. 781*.

According to Mr. Yowell, Ms. Ortega came back shortly after 7 p.m. and stated she did not have to work that day; she saw Mr. Yowell's beer, took it from him, and drank it. *App. 755* Ms. Ortega denied drinking the beer. *App. 510*. Ms. Ortega then took her prescription medication. *App. 755*. Ms. Ortega then wanted to leave to buy methamphetamine. *App. 756-757*.

Mr. Yowell told Jean that he was trying to get his child back, so he did not want to be involved with Ms. Ortega getting high on methamphetamine. *App. 757*. Despite that, Mr. Yowell left the decision to buy drugs to Ms. Ortega's own judgment *App. 757*. Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega left in her car with her driving. *App. 466-467*, *756*.

After contacting her drug dealer, Ms. Ortega and Mr. Yowell were told to come back in forty-five minutes. *App. 757*. While waiting, Mr. Yowell showed Ms. Ortega where his children lived. *App. 757*. Ms. Ortega did admit that before any violence occurred, she did talk with Mr. Yowell about is ex-girlfriend. *App. 469*. Ms.

Ortega continued to drive and crossed 5th street in Elko, Nevada. *App. 758*. Violence erupted shortly after. *App. 757*. Who initiated and committed the violence was disputed by the only two witnesses who saw it transpire: Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega.

Mr. Yowell testified that he was watching a video on his personal phone. *App.* 758. Ms. Ortega struck Mr. Yowell *App.* 758. Mr. Yowell instinctively struck back. *App.* 758. Ms. Ortega pulled the vehicle over and continued to assault Mr. Yowell with, "[b]arrages of punches. *App.* 758-759. After Ms. Ortega struck Mr. Yowell thirty to fifty times, Mr. Yowell cried out, "[p]lease stop hitting me, stop hitting me." *App.* 759. Mr. Yowell tucked and covered himself. *App.* 759. Ms. Ortega raked Mr. Yowell's face. *App.* 759. Ms. Ortega struck Mr. Yowell in his throat and testicles. *App.* 759.

Mr. Yowell started to lose consciousness. *App. 759*. His vision going dim. *App. 759*. Mr. Yowell grabbed Ms. Ortega's arms, attempting to stop the attack. *App. 760*. Mr. Yowell told Ms. Ortega to stop hitting him or we would start hitting back. *App. 760*. In response, Ms. Ortega bit down on Mr. Yowell's left arm, "like a Pitbull ... attack." *App. 760*. Mr. Yowell pleaded with Ms. Ortega to stop biting his arm. *App. 760*. Mr. Yowell could feel Ms. Ortega's teeth sinking into his arm. *App. 760-761*. He could feel his flesh ripping open. *App. 761*. Mr. Yowell, again, begged Ms. Ortega to stop ripping open his flesh. *App. 761*. Ms. Ortega started ripping her mouth

back and forth. *App. 761*. Mr. Yowell was terrified in that moment. *App. 761*. He could not think clearly. *App. 761*. He did what instinct told him to do.

Mr. Yowell struck Ms. Ortega one time. *App. 761*. He verbally warned her again to stop biting him or he would strike her. *App. 761*. Ms. Ortega did not let go. *App. 762*. Mr. Yowell struck Ms. Ortega several more times. *App. 762*. Specifically, Mr. Yowell thought it was between seven to twelve strikes. *App. 762*. It was only after that that Ms. Ortega released her flesh-ripping grip from Mr. Yowell's arm. *App. 761-763*. Ms. Ortega's face started to swell up from her upper lip upwards. *App. 763*. She could not see. *App. 763*.

Mr. Yowell asked Ms. Ortega is she wanted to contact law enforcement. *App.* 763-764. She declined, worried about her supervised release. *App.* 764. She asked Mr. Yowell to drive her car. *App.* 764. The two switched seats with Mr. Yowell now driving. *App.* 763. Mr. Yowell told Ms. Ortega, "I'll take you to jail or I'm going home." *App.* 765.

Disputing that initial episode of violence, Ms. Ortega explained it as a random act of violence initiated by Mr. Yowell. Specifically, "[w]e were going for a ride, and he just all of the sudden looked at me and started hitting me in the face." *App. 466*. Ms. Ortega claimed that Mr. Yowell hit her while she was driving the car. *App. 470*. Ms. Ortega believed Mr. Yowell hit her about eight to ten times. *App. 470*. She also admitted she, "did throw some punches." *App. 513*.

i

In the aftermath, Mr. Ortega admitted that she did not want law enforcement involved. *App. 472*. She also admitted that she wanted Mr. Yowell to drive. *App. 472*. They started driving south after Jean consented to driving to Lee, Nevada. *App. 514*, 766. The parties drove for several miles towards Lee, Nevada. *App. 473-474*, 766-769. Both claimed that the other party continued to attack them while driving to Lee.

Mr. Yowell testified that he was driving on the highway towards Lee, Nevada when Ms. Ortega struck him again. *App.* 770. Mr. Yowell swerved and almost wrecked the car. *App.* 770. He struck back at Ms. Ortega. *App.* 770. Continuing down the road, Ms. Ortega attacked Mr. Yowell three or four more times. *App.* 770. Ms. Ortega threatened to kill Mr. Yowell. *App.* 770. She threatened to have her brothers or gang members kill Mr. Yowell. *App.* 770. Ms. Ortega claims that Mr. Yowell attacked her and that he said, "I'm holding you captive." *App.* 472.

Eventually the car stopped. *App. 473, 772*. Sometime later, Trey and Mikala Green came upon Mr. Yowell, Ms. Ortega, and Ms. Ortega's car. *App. 413-418*. Mr. Yowell left the scene towards Lee, Nevada. *App. 422*. Law enforcement and an ambulance later come on scene. *App. 424*.

Deputy Brenda Cortez of the Elko County Sherriff's Office took pictures of Ms. Ortega. *App. 538*. One picture captured the injuries to Mr. Ortega's face. *App. 541*. Other than what may have been a minor bruise, there were no visible injuries to

Mr. Ortega's lower lip. *App. 552-553*. There was swelling to her upper lip but not her lower lip. *App. 533*. There were no injuries to Ms. Ortega's chin. *App. 533-534*.

Sgt. Calvern Williams ("Sgt. Williams") of the Elko County Sherriff's office came on scene around 9:30 P.M. *App. 681*-683. Sgt. Williams contacted Ms. Ortega on scene. *App. 683*. Sgt. Williams contacted Ms. Ortega again at the hospital about an hour later. See, *App. 691-692* (showing a time of around 4:41:29 on the bodycam for the interview on the highway, and a start time of 5:41:03 for Exhibit 3). Sgt. Williams recorded his conversation at the hospital. *App. 693*. The State moved to admit the recording, marked as Exhibit 3. *App. 693*. The trial court admitted the exhibit over the defendant's objection. *App. 693-698*.

The recording is 7 minutes and 54 seconds long *App. 967-970*. The recording contains multiple statements that include Ms. Ortega talking about Mr. Yowell attacking her, the dating relationship between them, and where they traveled. During the video, Ms. Ortega is sedate and replying only intermittently to questions.

Law enforcement arrested Mr. Yowell the following day on June 6th, 2020, around 8:45 A.M. *App. 525-526*. Chief Andrew Neff of the South Fork Indian Reservation Police ("Chief Neff") went to 6 Cottonwood on the South Fork Indian Reservation to arrest Mr. Yowell. *App. 525*. Chief Neff recorded his interactions with Mr. Yowell over bodycam, marked as State's Exhibit 4. *App.* 526. The State moved for the admission of State's Exhibit 4 with no opposition from the defense. *App. 526*.

Chief Neff noticed injuries on Mr. Yowell. *App. 528*. Those injuries included scratches. *App. 531*. Scratches on the left side of Mr. Yowell's face. *App. 532*. One going down near his mouth. *App. 532*. Another vertical scratch going down his left cheek. *App. 533*. Chief Neff also noted a wound on Mr. Yowell's left arm triceps area. *App. 533-534*. Chief Neff immediately transported Mr. Yowell to the Elko County Jail. *App. 534*.

Once at the jail, Deputy Tyler Bear of the Elko County Sherriff's Office helped book Mr. Yowell into the jail. *App.* 627. Part of that process included taking photographs of Mr. Yowell's injuries. *App.* 627. Those photographs depicted wounds on Mr. Yowell's left cheek and jawline, injuries to his nose, scratches around an eye, scratches near an ear, scratches on his left collarbone and shoulder, and scratches on his lower torso. *App.* 629-637. The photographs also showed an injury to Mr. Yowell's left arm. *App.* 629-637. There were two wounds with bruising surrounding them. *App.* 637. Sgt. Williams also had two opportunities shorty after June 5th, 2020, to observe wounds on Mr. Yowell.

Sgt. Williams met with Mr. Yowell on June 6th, 2020, and again on June 13th, 2021. *App. 700-701*. Mr. Yowell showed Sgt. Williams, "what appeared to be a bite mark." *App. 701*. Mr. Yowell described the injury as a bite mark that Ms. Ortega inflicted. *App. 701*. Sgt. Williams also saw many of the same injuries that Deputy

Tyler Bear documented. *App. 725-726*. Sgt. Williams admitted that Mr. Yowell's description of events was consistent with the injuries her observed. *App. 714-715*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court denied Mr. Yowell a fair trial. The United States Constitution and Nevada Constitution provide individuals with a fundamental right to a fair trial. *U.S. Const. Amend* XIV, *Nev. Const. Art.* 1, § 8, *Hightower v. State*, 123 Nev. 55, 57, 154 P.3d 639, 640 (Nev. 2007). The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides the accused with the right to confront witnesses against them. *U.S. Const. Amend.* VI, *Amend.* XIV. A right to a fair trial includes the inadmissibility of hearsay evidence. NRS § 51.035.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

On appeal, this Court reviews a District Court's legal conclusions de novo while reviewing factual findings for clear error. *Somee v. State*, 124 Nev. 434, 441, 187 P.3d 152, 157-158(Nev. 2008). De novo review determines if a trial court infringed upon the constitutional right of confrontation by improperly limiting cross-examination. *Mendoza v. State*, 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176(Nev. 2006). This Court reviews a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for abuse of discretion. *Chavez v. State*, 125 Nev. 328, 344, 213 P.3d 476, 487(Nev. 2009).

B. The District Court Infringed Upon Mr. Yowell's Confrontation Rights When it Limited the Defense's Cross-Examination of Jean Ortega.

An essential part of a defendant's constitutional right of confrontation is the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses. *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 678, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 1435 (1986). The trial court must not only allow the opportunity but ensure an effective opportunity to cross-examine. *See, Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 1111 (1974). Denial of the right of effective cross-examination is constitutional error of the first magnitude and no want of prejudice will cure it. *Id.* Any conviction obtained in a trial that denies the federally guaranteed constitutional right to confront witnesses is invalid. *Brookhart v. Janis*, 384 U.S. 1, 2-3, 86 S. Ct. 1245, 1246(1966). Abiding by the Framer's design for a fair trial, directed in part by confrontation, avoids a trial that results in an invalid conviction.

The inherent design and purpose of the right of confrontation is preventing improper restrictions on the types of questions that defense counsel may ask during cross-examination. *Pa. v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 52, 107 S. Ct. 989, 999(1987). That design imparts upon the trial assurances that the most reliable evidence is coming before the jury. Indeed, the Confrontation Clause's ultimate goal is ensuring reliability of evidence. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 61, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 1370(2004). And producing that substantive outcome of reliable evidence at trial comes from the procedural guarantee of cross-examination unencumbered by

improper interference. *See*, *Id*.(holding, reliability of evidence is a procedural rather than a substantive guarantee.). In short, forcing a State's witness to undergo the full crucible of cross-examination is the best procedural guarantee of a jury hearing reliable evidence. *Id*.

Since juries are the sole triers of fact and credibility, the full crucible of cross-examination permits the defendant to expose facts that the jury could appropriately draw inferences about. *Davis 415 U.S. at 318, 94 S. Ct. at 1111.* That includes allowing evidence of specific acts showing that the victim was a violent person if a defendant seeks to establish self-defense and was aware of those specific acts. *Daniel v. State*, 119 Nev. 498, 515-516, 78 P.3d 890, 902(Nev. 2003). "This evidence is relevant to the defendant's state of mind, i.e., whether the defendant's belief in the need to use force in self-defense was reasonable." *Id.*

Daniel v. State, points out that a testifying defendant should be allowed to corroborate his knowledge of the violent acts of the alleged victim with specific acts of violence he is aware of. Id., NRS § 48.045, NRS § 48.055. This includes allowing extrinsic evidence of specific acts of the victim's prior violent actions. Daniel 119 Nev. at 516, 78 P.3d at 902.

To avoid error, the court must allow evidence of the specific acts presented through the defendant's own testimony, through cross-examination of the victim, and through extrinsic proof. *Daniel* 119 Nev. at 516-517 (Nev. 2003). To do

otherwise is an abuse of discretion by unduly limiting appellant's crossexamination of the victim. *Id*.

Unlike the dimension of character evidence within the confrontation clause analysis that *Daniel* focused on, *Leonard v. State* dealt with impeachment that explored the potential bias of a witness. *Leonard v. State*, 117 Nev. 53, 17 P.3d 397(Nev. 2001). There, the Court reiterated that harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant are factors considered to decide if the court should limit cross-examination.

Contrary to the victim in *Daniel*, evidence of the witness's prior criminal conduct was inadmissible, and, therefore, restricting cross-examination was not improper. *Id.* 117 at 72, 17 P.3d at 409. Though *Daniel* cited *Leonard* for another proposition, the Court did not expressly adopt the same factors test to decide if the trial court improperly limited cross-examination for establishing part of a self-defense argument. *Daniel* 119 at 504 fn.3, 78 P.3d at 894 fn.3. Instead, the *Daniel* decision clearly states that a trial court abuses its discretion in unduly limiting a defendant's cross-examination of the victim in the context of supporting the reasonableness of the defendant's state of mind at the time of defending himself. *Id.*119 Nev. at 516-517, 78 P.3d at 902.

The trial court in this case abused its discretion by unduly limiting Mr. Yowell's cross-examination into Ms. Ortega's prior violent acts. That impaired Mr. Yowell's ability to demonstrate that his state of mind was such that a reasonable person in like circumstances would have acted as he did. Specifically, the trial court errored when it sustained the State's objections to the following series of questions that Mr. Yowell asked Ms. Ortega on cross-examination:

"Q: You attacked your father with a knife?

A: Yes. Like I said before, yes.

Q: And you stabbed him?

A: Yes.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Q: And you stabbed him more than once?

A: Yes.

Q: And you stabbed him multiple times?

A: Yes.

[Prosecutor]: Objection, asked and answered.

Q: You stabbed him ...

The Court: I'll sustain the objection

Q: You stabbed him over ten times?

A: Rough – yes.

Q: You stabbed him fifteen times? [Prosecutor] Objection.

The Court: I'm going to sustain the repetitive nature of the question.

App. 497-498.

Mr. Yowell argued self-defense in closing argument. *App. 918-924* Both Mr. Yowell and Ms. Ortega testified that Mr. Yowell was aware of Ms. Ortega's attack on her father. *App. 499*, 739. But the court below hampered Mr. Yowell's self-defense argument by closing off the defendant's cross-examination of Ms. Ortega's

specific violent acts. Mr. Yowell needed to show that his reaction to Ms. Ortega's attack was reasonable and proportionate based on what he knew about Ms. Ortega violently attacking her own father—stabbing him repeatedly with a knife. The court abused its discretion, and the error was beyond harmless.

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