1		
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
3	·	Electronically Filed Feb 24 2022 01:57 p.m
4	DARWYN ROSS YOWELL,	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cour
5	Appellant,	
6	vs.	CASE NO.83577
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
8	Respondent.	
9		
10	1	rth Judicial District Court
11	In And For The County Of Elko	
12	RESPONDENT'S A	ANSWERING BRIEF
13	THE HONORABLE AARON D. FO ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVA	1
14	100 N. CARSON STREET CARSON CITY, NV 89701	
15	TYLER J. INGRAM	Matthew Pennell
16	Elko County District Attorney's Office	State Bar Number: 13298 569 COURT STREET
17	Chad B. Thompson State Bar Number: 10248	ELKO, NV 89801
18	540 Court Street, 2 <sup>nd</sup> Floor

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

-11-

. 12

federal court?

A. I believe so, yes.

1	Q. And that was within the last few years you were convicted of this violent offense?
2	A. Yes, sir.
3	Q. And that crime was for assault resulting in serious bodily
4	injury?
5	A. Yes, sir.  Q. And your victim in that case was your father?
6	A. Yes, sir.
7	Q. And you attacked your father?
8	A. Yes.
	Q. You attacked him with a knife?
9	A. Yes.
10	<b></b>
11	Q. You attacked your father with a knife?
12	A. Yes. Like I said before, yes.
14	Q. And you stabbed him?
13	A. Yes.
14	Q. And you stabbed him more than once?
15	A. Yes.
16	Q. And you stabbed him multiple times?
17	A. Yes.
18	Q. You stabbed him over ten times?
	A. Rough – yes.
19	Q. You stabbed him 15 times?
20	

JA Vol. 3 p. 495-497. At this point the State objected and the district court sustained the objection based upon the repetitive nature of the questions. 3 Id. at 498. Following this, Yowell continued with cross examination asking about Yowell's knowledge of this previous crime of hers, which the victim 4 5 affirmed, and then there was lengthy questioning about her terms of parole 6 or probation which included her mental health and how that was dealt with 7 on probation or parole. Id. at 499-505. In short, Yowell was very much 8 allowed to cross examine Ms. Ortega about her prior crime, which she 9 admitted to and even admitted that Yowell was aware of it. NRS 50.115 states that:

- The judge shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence:
- (a) To make the interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth:
  - (b) To avoid needless consumption of time; and
  - (c) To protect witnesses from undue harassment or embarrassment.

The district court did exactly what it is required to do by statute. At no time did Ms. Ortega deny her felony conviction or the nature of it. To repetitively ask such questions was a waste of time, could result in confusion of the issue regarding who was on trial and was only implemented to badger or harass and embarrass Ms. Ortega. Thus, the State objected, and the court sustained the objection regarding the repetitive

10

1

2

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

nature of the multiple 'stabbing' questions. There was no instruction about what could not be further asked and in fact Yowell was allowed to ask about her punishment, going to prison, being on parole and her conditions thereof, and how this previous crime was attributed to a mental health episode relating to her bipolar disorder. JA Vol. 3 p. 499-505. Only the repetitive asking about stabbing her father multiple times drew the objection.

The evidence necessary for Yowell's defense was allowed before the jury and Yowell was not hampered in any way from arguing his self-defense claim as a result of knowing about her past history.

Yowell claims in his brief that if he had not been 'hampered' by the district court's ruling he "...could have shown that Ms. Ortega stabbed her father over ten times, over fifteen times, over twenty times, or more." Appellant's Opening Brief p. 15 lns. 13-14. However, there is no citation with this assertion, and it is belied by his own testimony. Yowell, when he testified, specifically stated that he was aware that Ms. Ortega had stabbed her father "12 times". JA Vol. 4 p. 739. The truth of the matter is that Yowell was allowed to prove that Ms. Ortega had stabbed her father over ten times as noted above and there was absolutely no basis in fact for asking about 15, 20 or more times as shown by his own testimony. Yowell was

able to prove exactly what happened and was not hampered in any way. True, Yowell was prevented from asking about the false allegations of 15, 20 or more times, but this did not cause him any harm or prejudice since it was false. Yowell cites case law stating "...forcing a State's witness to undergo the full crucible of cross-examination is the best procedural guarantee of a jury hearing reliable evidence." Appellant's Opening Brief p. 12 lns. 2-4; citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 61, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004). However, this principle should not give one license to ask questions one knows are false to a person who suffered such debilitating injuries as in this case and therefore plant in the minds of the jury the seed that they are possibly true and only misremembered by the witness who is struggling with her memory and will continue to do so likely for the rest of her life. There was no basis in fact for asking about exaggerated numbers as suggested by Yowell. This makes it irrelevant and inadmissible. NRS 48.015-NRS 48.035.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that regarding potential bias or motive cross examination, trial judges 'retain wide latitude' to restrict cross-examination regarding questioning when there are concerns about prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, repetitive, irrelevant, vague, speculative or questions designed to merely harass, annoy, or

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

humiliate the witness or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant. Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 72 (2001) citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S. Ct. 1431 (1986); Bushnell v. State, 95 Nev. 570, 572-573 (1979).

Based upon the above statute and case law and the facts of this case the district court did not err in limiting the repetitive nature of the questioning. Yowell was able to elicit all the facts necessary for his defense. There was no error.

The hospital interview of Ms. Ortega by Sgt. Williams was II. admissible evidence properly before the jury.

As noted above in the factual statement, Ms. Ortega's trial testimony was not consistent with the statements that she made during the interview. Just reading her testimony and then watching the video makes that clear. Yowell's claim that "nothing said in it was inconsistent with her prior testimony" is merely a bald assertion without taking into consideration or arguing what she said in both instances. Appellant's Opening Brief p. 16 ln. 10 - p. 17 ln. 1.

As an example, a clear inconsistency had to do with how the vehicle came to a stop on the Jiggs Highway. The two accounts are wildly different. Her trial testimony had Ms. Ortega causing the stopping of the car by grabbing the gear shift and thrusting the car into another gear and thereafter taking the keys. JA Vol. 3 p. 473-475. This is contrasted against her video recorded statement that Yowell had slammed on the brakes to stop the vehicle because he wanted to stop Ms. Ortega from getting something out of the back seat, thinking that she was attempting to get a weapon to take him out with. JA Vol 4 p. 967-970. This is but one example, but such a significant one that the short video statement in its entirety warrants review to test the reliability of this person, who again had suffered a subdural hematoma at the time of the statement and was testifying while suffering still the aftereffects of the injuries a year later.

"We conclude that when a trial witness fails, for whatever reason, to remember a previous statement made by that witness, the failure of recollection constitutes a denial of the prior statement that makes it a prior inconsistent statement pursuant to NRS 51.035(2)(a). The previous statement is not hearsay and may be admitted both substantively and for impeachment." Crowley v. State, 120 Nev. 30, 35, 83 P.3d 282, 286 (2004). In this case the State did fulfill the requirements of Crowley. The State first asked Ms. Ortega about the event in question letting her testify from what she remembered at the time of trial. JA Vol. 3 p. 464, 469, 470, 473-475. As noted above, throughout her testimony she claimed she could not

remember or was unable to remember and that reviewing the officer's report, or the video would not refresh her memory. JA Vol. 3 p. 463, 464, 468, 470-473, 478-483, 485-487, 518. The video clearly has statements that are inconsistent with what she testified to. JA Vo. 4 p. 967-970. Therefore, they are admissible under NRS 51.035(2)(a).

The video is further admissible evidence containing excited utterances or as a present sense impression. NRS 51.095; NRS 51.085. The statutes require that the statements be made while perceiving the event or immediately thereafter or while under the stress of excitement caused by the event. Id. In a 1984 Nevada Supreme Court case, the victim was interviewed by the police one and one-half hours later, however the statement was admissible as an excited utterance because the victim was "nervous and upset" at the time of the interview. Dearing v. State, 100 Nev. 590, 592 (1984). Ms. Ortega's interview at the hospital seems to clearly fit the Dearing case for an excited utterance as she is still suffering from the effects of the incident.

While present sense impression does contain the words "...or immediately thereafter..." one should take into consideration that Ms. Ortega was currently suffering the brain bleed/subdural hematoma as diagnosed by the doctors during the brief interview with Sgt. Williams. RA

p. 3-4, 57, 76, 79, 83-84, 127, 128-129. Ms. Ortega was, at that moment, still suffering from the effects of the beating she received from Yowell. The interview in the hospital took place only one hour after Sgt. Williams' encounter with Ms. Ortega on the Jiggs Highway and is relatively short. JA Vol. 4 p. 699.

The State also argued that whatever statements that were consistent within the hospital interview, were offered for rehabilitation purposes to rebut a claim of recent fabrication. NRS 51.035(2)(b). As noted above Ms. Ortega testified many times that she did not remember a lot of what happened due to the lasting effects of the injuries she suffered. She was cross examined about her past and about her being on parole or probation both while testifying and at the time of the crime and the suggestion was made that she did not want to go back to prison and would do almost anything to avoid it. JA Vol. 3 p. 504-505. Yowell was obviously claiming that she is/was lying about who was at fault in the altercation, suggesting her motive for lying was to avoid going back to prison.

The State, to rebut this suggestion, wanted to show that she had to have been clear minded enough to be able to come up with such a lie, while in the hospital, suffering a brain bleed, going in and out of consciousness as seen on the video and therefore that it was unlikely that she had such a

motive or that it was at the forefront of her mind. Ms. Ortega's immediate health at the time of the statement must be a consideration in determining whether she actually had such a motive as claimed by Yowell. Thus, the State properly should have been allowed to rehabilitate the witness with her statements made in the hospital and therefore allow the jury to decide whether that person was operating with such a motive in mind.

Finally, in writing this appeal it occurs to the State that the video was excellent evidence of the substantial bodily harm element that had to be proved in relation to count 4. The video interview was well over an hour after the actual beating took place and she still was clearly suffering from the effects of it. While a subdural hematoma is not something that a juror may be able to see on the outside, watching a video of a person talking and interacting while suffering from such an injury is clearly helpful in determining whether substantial bodily harm was present. NRS 0.060. It would have been relevant to show the protracted loss or impairment of her speech and cognitive abilities that had been testified to. <u>Id.</u>; JA Vol. 3 p. 444, 480, 599-600.

Under any of the above theories, the video recorded statement at the hospital was admissible. This court need not find that all theories apply. That solely one is applicable is enough because it is irrelevant that the

1 | d | 2 | lo | 3 | c | 4 | T | 5 | c | 6 | re | 7 | o | 8 | m | 9 | a |

district court may have relied upon an inapplicable admissibility tenet, as long as the evidence is still admissible for any reason. Dearing at 592, citing Cunningham v. State, 100 Nev. 396 n. 1 (1984) (Hotel Rivera, Inc. v. Torres, 97 Nev. 399 (1981)(where lower court's decision was otherwise correct, error will not be found despite the fact that court gave wrong reasons in support of its decision.)). What is more, a trial court's evaluation of admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal unless it is manifestly erroneous. Medina v. State, 122 Nev. 346, 353 (2006). The admission of the video was not a manifestly erroneous ruling given the facts around its admission as noted above. This would be at worst a close call.

III. Errors concerning hearsay and the confrontation clause of the U.S.6th amendment are subject to harmless error analysis.

Both hearsay and confrontation clause errors are subject to harmless error analysis. NRS 51.035, NRS 51.065 and NRS 178.598; Franco v. State, 109 Nev. 1229, at 1237 (1993), cited, Browne v. State, 113 Nev. 305, at 313, (1997), Wood v. State, 115 Nev. 344, at 350, (1999). It must be determined beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). Factors relevant in determining if the error was harmless include: (1) the importance of a

witness's testimony in the prosecution's case; (2) whether the testimony was cumulative; (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony on material points; and (4) the overall strength of the prosecution's case. Medina v. State, 122 Nev. 346, 143 P.3d 471 (2006), cited, Harkins v. State, 122 Nev. 974, at 986, 143 P.3d 706 (2006), Polk v. State, 126 Nev. 180, at 183, 233 P.3d 357 (2010), see also Hernandez v. State, 124 Nev. 639, at 653, 188 P.3d 1126 (2008).

In this case, both the focusing of the cross examination of the victim and the admissibility of the video interview were not in error. However, for the sake of argument, if deemed to be error, that error would have been harmless. Not allowing Yowell to ask about 15 and 20 or more times of stabbing when going over the victim's prior would have added nothing to the already admitted evidence that she had testified to already. Ms. Ortega had admitted that such a prior for stabbing her father existed and that she did so more than 10 times and in fact 12 times according to Yowell. It would have been cumulative and repetitive to go any further regarding the number of times and being able to go over and over it would not have made it any more important.

The video statement of Ms. Ortega could also be deemed as more of the same, or cumulative as she did in fact testify about what she

remembered. While the video showed the victim's condition, it is likely that Ms. Ortega's live and in person testimony was much more important. She did testify as did others about her condition, the inconsistencies are there, but the reality is that the jury was hearing from a woman who had been severely injured and anything that she said or was going say was going to be taken with a grain of salt because of her considering her injuries, whether she made inconsistencies or not. There was also video of her immediately at the scene that had already been admitted and shown to the jury as Jury Trial Exhibit 2. JA Vol. 4 p. 682-684, 690. Given the fact that the other video had already been played showing Sgt. Williams' interaction with Ms. Ortega out on the Jiggs Highway, to which Yowell did not object, it is hardly likely that the video from the hospital did much more than what had already been shown. Thus, again making any error, which the State does not concede, but if found, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

15

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

16

17

18

19

#### CONCLUSION

There was no error or unlawful limitation of the cross examination of the victim. The admissibility of the video, exhibit 3, was not manifestly erroneous as there are multiple reasons for its admissibility especially given the fact that the declarant did testify and was cross examined about the incident.

If there was any error, which the State does not concede, it was harmless given the weight of the evidence against Yowell. Ms. Ortega was savagely battered by Yowell and will likely never be the same. The jury's verdict should be affirmed.